RECEIVED

Aug 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-04-00667
Appellate Case No. 2020-000070

Ex Parte: Donald L. Smith,
In Re: Greg Battersby,

Appellant,
Plaintiff

v.

J. Kirkman Moorehead, Krause, Moorhead &
Draisen, P. A., Allstate Insurance Company,
And Allstate Northbrook Indemnity Company,

Defendants,

J. Kirkman Moorehead, Krause, Moorhead &
Draisen, P. A.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/Donald L. Smith

Donald L. Smith (Bar No.: 6699)

122 N. Main Street

Anderson, SC 29621

Telephone: (864) 642-9284

Facsimile: (864) 642-9285

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING THE SANCTION AGAINST APPELLANT UNDER RULE 11 SCRPC.
- II. WHETHER THE SANCTION WAS TAILORED TO ACHIEVE THE GOAL OF THE RULE.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. THE GENESIS OF THIS ACTION

Dr. Gregg Battersby (hereinafter referred as “Battersby”) is a chiropractor providing chiropractic services in his house. On August 2, 2013, Battersby was arrested on separate charges of indecent exposure by two (2) of his clients, Ms. Jan Morton-Gantner (hereinafter referred as “Morton”) and Carrie Neal (hereinafter referred as “Neal”). These claims spawned several legal cases involving Battersby.

The alleged offense: INDECENT EXPOSURE

Dr. Battersby and Neal:

Through a friend’s referral, Neal sought Battersby’s services after suffering injuries due to a vehicular accident. (R., p. 53, 1.6; R., p. 302, 14.19; & p. 324, 16- 25). Neal began her sessions with Battersby sometime in September 2012. (R., p. 279 & 291). This lasted until May of 2013.

Battersby was supposed to help adjust Neal’s back and hips. (R., p. 279, 15.20). After eighty-seven (87) visits, Battersby released Neal from his care. Upon learning that her bill amounted to \$12,100.00, Thomas Dunaway, Esquire (Neal’s attorney for the MVA) had Neal seek out an itemized bill. This request was made despite the fact Dunaway had included an itemized bill in the demand he made to Allstate which offered \$15,000.00 to settle the claim.

(R., p. 279, 15.25 & p. 280, 1).

In order to get said bill, Neal allegedly visited Battersby at his house/clinic on May 23, 2013. She claimed that she was ushered in by a half-naked Battersby, who soon after presented himself fully naked as he gave her the itemized list. (R., p. 280). Prior to learning the cost of her eighty-seven (87) visit course of treatment, Neal admitted having no trouble with Battersby's services, nor having had any incident of indecent exposure. (R., p. 290, 14.16). Neal alleged she met with Battersby after the May 23, 2013, incident. She went to his house to get a claim form she believed will help her with her auto accident claims. (R., p. 285, 16.25 & p. 286, 1.21). Neal admitted having talked with Morton. (R., p. 282-283).

On July 25, 2013, Neal reported to the ACSO of an incident involving an indecent exposure by Battersby.

Dr. Battersby and Morton:

Neal apparently satisfied with Battersby's services referred him to her friend, Morton.

Morton and Neal were friends who became Battersby's clients. Upon being referred by Neal, Morton began her chiropractic care with Battersby on May 2, 2013. Battersby gave her a plan of care which involved multiple visits/sessions, which she was unable to follow as prescribed. On June 1, 2013, she went to Battersby's residence for her therapy. It was an unscheduled one as she just returned from a vacation. She called Battersby to ask for an appointment, the latter accommodated her on that day. Morton later told the officer she gave her initial complaint to that upon arriving at Battersby's, he answered the door in a men's robe and directed her to his treatment room. Battersby allegedly disappeared for a few minutes but returned, still in his robe. He got Morton onto the exam table and conducted treatment on her neck area. Morton stated he then used a mechanical massager to work on her back area.

She stated that after the massager, Battersby made her move to another table and lie face down, while he massaged her lower extremities. She offered this was not a normal practice in previous sessions. Morton stated that Battersby was moving towards her bottom area, making her feel uncomfortable. She stated specifically there was no contact of a sexual nature. As she got up to leave, she saw Battersby's robe fall to the floor exposing a fully erect penis. She stated that she left the house without further incident.

Morton claimed Battersby had been calling her for therapy while she was on vacation. She admitted she told her husband of the incident, who convinced her to report the same to the ACSO. On July 8, 2013, after four (4) sessions with Battersby, Morton filed a report of indecent exposure against him. An Incident report based on Morton's claim (see the previous paragraph) was created, and ten (10) days after, Morton was interviewed by Detective Ashley. In the recorded interview, Morton disclosed Battersby was wearing a towel and rubbed his "stuff" on her back. Morton broached the topic of incidents which were alleged to have occurred in foreign state jurisdictions. These statements were in direct contradiction to the accounts found in the Incident Report.

Two separate warrants were issued against Battersby, who was arrested on August 2, 2013. He was indicted on both charges on November 19, 2013. As a result of the conflicting stories of the alleged victims, the Tenth Circuit Solicitor's Office subsequently dropped the criminal cases against Battersby on April 24, 2014. Battersby, thereafter filed separate suits against the individual deputies and ACSO for violation of his civil rights (*Battersby v. Ashley, et al*, Case No. 8:15-cv-00066-BHH-JDA; *Battersby v. John Skipper*, Appellate Case No. 2016-000973, Unpublished Opinion No. 2018-UP-377).

THE LLR CASE: THE ADMINISTRATIVE CASE

After going to the police to make an incident report, Morton met with her attorney for the pursuit of her personal injury claim J. Kirkman Moorehead, Esquire. Mr. Moorehead helped Morton file a complaint against Battersby in the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation ("LLR"). This being an administrative case, complainants are usually required to accomplish a form as basis for the initial Complaint. In commencing her complaint, according to Morton, Respondent Moorhead completed the online complaint. Respondent Moorhead stipulated Morton treated twenty (20) times over the course of four (4) months, despite knowing (at least implicitly) she had only been to see Battersby four (4) times. Investigators from the LLR called Morton regarding her complaint.

On August 20, 2013, Battersby's license was suspended by the State Board of Chiropractic Examiners ("Board") after investigation by the Office of Investigations and Enforcement ("OIE") of the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation ("SCDLLR"). Battersby filed an action in the Federal Court against the members of the State Board of Chiropractic Examiners for suspending his license to practice (*Battersby v. Carew*, C.A. No. 8:14-761-HMH); and against his former clients (*Battersby v. Neal and Morton*, C.A. No.: 2014-CP-1121).

In furtherance of Battersby's claims, it was necessary to depose his accusers, Morton and Neal. As she was being served with a subpoena for her deposition, Neal offered an interesting statement to Mr. Michael Moske, the private investigator serving the subpoena. Neal told Moske, "I'm not the only one. There are other guys." Taking this as an implied admission of a conspiracy, Appellant took the depositions of Neal and Morton with the intent of finding out the other parties to the conspiracy.

Discovery completed in the against the LLR provided the opportunity to see how specious Morton's and Neal's claims were. Based on the findings of said discovery, it became readily apparent the claims were fabricated. Appellant made a specific request with the sheriff's office upon learning of an audio tape recording of an interview by an officer with Morton. This audio tape recording was not originally provided to Battersby, until after Appellant filed a Motion to Compel the Sheriff's office for the same.

The recording illustrated various discrepancies with Morton's statements offered in the Incident and Supplementary Reports, which had been completed ten (10) days prior to the recorded interview. Appellant believes these inconsistencies led the Solicitor to dismiss the criminal cases against Battersby. However, the temporary suspension continued depriving Battersby of his opportunity to earn a living.

BATTERSBY V. NEAL: THE CONSPIRACY

Battersby believed Neal, Morton and their counsels had information regarding a prior Ohio case involving Battersby. The Ohio case, involving similar facts found herein, went to the jury and resulted in an award for Plaintiff in the amount of \$2,450,000.00 against Battersby and his Mentor Chiropractic Center.

MON. 2/05/96 VERDICT--FOR PLAINTIFF AGAINST MENTOR
CHIROPRACTIC CTR & GREGG N. BATTERSBY COMPENSATORY DMG
\$125,000 AG MENTOR CHIROPRACTIC CT. COMPENSATORY DMG
\$125,000 AG GREGG N. BATTERSBY PUNITIVE DMG \$250,000 AG
MENTOR CHIROPRACTIC CT. PUNITIVE DMG \$1,250,000 AG GREGG N.
BATTERSBY AR VOLUME # 1045 PAGE # 876

MON. 6/17/96 PLAINTIFF GRANTED ATTORNEY FEES CONSISTENT
WITH THE CONTINGENCY FEE ARRANGEMENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND HER COUNSEL. PLAINTIFF SHALL
RECOVER TOTAL ATTORNEY FEES OF SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND
DOLLARS (\$700, 000) WITH INTEREST AT THE RATE OF TEN PERCENT
(10%) AS PROVIDED BY LAW ACCRUING FROM FEBRUARY 20, 1996,

THE DATE OF THIS COURT'S ORIGINAL JUDGMENT ENTRY.
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUPERSEDEAS BOND IS GRANTED IN
THE AMOUNT OF \$2,450,000 WHICH BOND SHALL BE POSTED NOT
LATER THAN THREE DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS ENTRY. IT IS SO
ORDERED. VOLUME # 1062 PAGE # 1047

(R., p. 421).

Whether Neal, Morton and their lawyers were inspired by this case may be gleaned from what occurred in this case.

On May 30, 2014, Battersby filed a case against Neal and Morton alleging the following causes of action: (1) false arrest and or deprivation of liberty; (2) defamation; (3) false arrest at instigation of defendants; (4) malicious prosecution; and (5) civil conspiracy.

By virtue of Order, dated September 4, 2014, Battersby amended his complaint to include Dunaway and add the cause of action for breach of contract, on September 26, 2014. The inclusion of Dunaway was based on the medical lien agreement entered into between Battersby and Dunaway which allowed Battersby to treat Neal for injuries related to the car accident. In turn, Battersby's services would be satisfied upon the settlement of the vehicular accident litigation. The car accident case was settled, and the settlement proceeds were placed in trust and subsequently distributed to all providers, except Battersby. After meeting Neal to sign the release and endorse the carrier check, neither she nor Dunaway made contact with Battersby. Battersby's inquiry into the status of his proceeds was followed being charged for indecent exposure. Neal, Morton and Dunaway, each filed an answer and/or motion to dismiss the case against them.

On November 6, 2014, Battersby attempted to add Respondents and Allstate Insurance as Third-Party Defendants in the case. Battersby failed to appear for the hearing of such motion,

which was dismissed. A second motion to allow them to enter the fray was denied on March 4, 2015, thus the filing of a separate action against Respondents and Allstate Insurance.

On June 29, 2015, Battersby informed the Circuit Court of the removal of Appellant as counsel for the case. Battersby proceeded with this case pro se.

BATTERSBY V. MOORHEAD, ET. AL.: THE SANCTIONS

Alleging Respondent Attorneys conspired with Morton and Neal to (1) state claims of indecent exposure to secure potential compensation (2) bring charges against Battersby with the ACSO; and (3) file a case against him with the LLR, Battersby brought a complaint against Respondents on March 20, 2015, asserting the following causes of action, to wit: (1) false imprisonment; (2) defamation; (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress (“IIED”); (4) malicious prosecution; (5) conspiracy; (6) fraud; and, (7) abuse of process. Battersby alleged Neal and Morton conspired with Respondent Attorneys to file multiple cases against him based on misleading and inconsistent statements, with the end goal of sharing any monetary judgment obtained.

Battersby filed a Complaint against Allstate Insurance (hereinafter referred as “Allstate”) based on good faith belief the company knew of the medial lien agreement entered between its client, Neal, Dunaway and Battersby. Battersby maintains Neal, Dunaway and Allstate conspired to deny payment to him. To date, Neal has not paid her outstanding balance to Battersby. Three causes of action were alleged against Insurance: (1) conspiracy; (2) negligence, and (3) gross negligence.

Both Respondents and Allstate moved to dismiss the complaint against them. Battersby opposed each motion.

On June 12, 2015, the Circuit Court dismissed the case against Allstate, finding

improper joinder of parties, improper pleading the elements of conspiracy and failure to demonstrate all the elements of negligence. On June 25, 2015, Allstate sought sanctions under Rule 11 SCRCF and the Frivolous Claims Proceedings Sanctions Act (hereinafter referred as “FCPSA”) against Battersby. Allstate’s motion for sanctions was denied in the Circuit Court’s Order, dated August 13, 2015.

On June 30, 2015, Appellant moved to withdraw all pleadings, motions and other documents filed by Battersby in this case. On July 1, 2015, he also moved to be relieved as counsel in the instant case. His Motion to Withdraw was granted on July 10, 2015, while his request to be relieved as counsel was granted only on October 8, 2015. It should be noted that as early as June 29, 2015, Appellant was no longer representing Battersby in the accompanying case, i.e. *Battersby v. Neal, et al.*

On July 10, 2015, the Circuit Court granted Respondents’ motion for summary judgment and motion to dismiss. On July 24, 2015, Respondents moved for sanctions to be imposed against Appellant under Rule 11 SCRCF and FCPSA. Appellant opposed the same.

On February 4, 2016, the Circuit Court issued an Order, granting the sanctions against Appellant under Rule 11 SCRCF. Appellant moved to reconsider the Circuit Court’s findings, which was denied in a Form 4, dated April 22, 2016. Since a Formal Order was not entered, Appellant did not act on the Form 4.

Three years later, Respondents filed a Motion to Enter the Monetary Sanctions in the Judgment Rolls, which the court granted on December 16, 2019. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of whether a court should impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCF, or the Act is a matter of equity. Se. Site Prep, LLC v. Atl. Coast Builders &

Contractors, LLC, 394 S.C. 97, 104, 713 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 2011). "In an action in equity tried by the judge alone, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* However, when the appellate court agrees with the circuit court's findings of fact, it reviews the circuit court's imposition of sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.*; see also Ex parte Gregory, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008). "Under the abuse of discretion standard, the imposition of sanctions will not be disturbed on appeal unless the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions." *Se. Site Prep*, 394 S.C. at 104, 713 S.E.2d at 654, as cited in Harwell v. Harwell, Appellate No. 2017-002290 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 18, 2020).

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING THE SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT.

A. THE MOTION WAS PROCEDURALLY DEFECTIVE.

Respondents' request for sanctions under Rule 11 should have been denied on procedural grounds. The Complaint was dismissed prior to Respondent's filing of her motion for sanctions. Furthermore, Respondents did not comply with the requirements laid down in Rule 11 of the SCRCP.

1. Respondents' Motion for Sanctions did not comply with Rule 11 SCRCP.

Rule 11 (a) SCRCP requires Respondents to undertake good faith efforts to confer or attempt to confer with Appellant to resolve the matter, prior to filing their Motion. Rule 11 provides:

(a) Signature. Every pleading, motion or other paper of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed in his individual name by at least one attorney of

record who is admitted to practice law in South Carolina, and whose address and telephone number shall be stated. A party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign his pleading, motion or other paper and state his address. Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule or statute, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit. The written or electronic signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; **that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed for delay.** An attorney or party may only utilize an electronic signature in pleadings, motions or other papers that are E-Filed in the SCE-File electronic filing system.

All motions filed shall contain an affirmation that the movant's counsel prior to filing the motion has communicated, orally or in writing, with opposing counsel and has attempted in good faith to resolve the matter contained in the motion, unless the movant's counsel certifies that consultation would serve no useful purpose or could not be timely held.

There is no duty of consultation on motions to dismiss, for summary judgment, for new trial, or judgment NOV, or on motions in Family Court for temporary relief pursuant to Family Court Rule 21, or in real estate foreclosure cases, or with pro se litigants.

If a pleading, motion or other paper is not signed or does not comply with this Rule, it shall be stricken unless it is signed promptly after the omission is called to the attention of the pleader or movant. If a pleading, motion, or other paper is signed in violation of this Rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may impose upon the person who signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of the pleading, motion or other paper, including a reasonable attorney's fee. (Emphasis supplied).

Rule 11, SCRPC.

A pre-requisite in the filing of a motion for sanctions is for the moving party (in this case the Respondents) to consult with opposing counsel before filing a motion. Rule 11, SCRPC.

The same rule also mandates moving party must certify to the Court that such consultation either has occurred or was useless. Respondents did not consult with Appellant before filing the Motion for Sanctions.

The Rules of Civil Procedure are unequivocal about the repercussions for a movant's

failure to consult: the motion must be stricken, and the Court may order the moving party to pay the other party its attorney's fees or any other appropriate relief. Rule 11, par. 3. The Court, instead of striking Respondents' Motion, rewarded them with sanctions amounting to \$11,206.20. Appellant believes equity and due process require the Rule to be applied as written, not in accordance with how a party may be affected by it.

2. Appellant's Complaint and other pleadings had been withdrawn prior to Respondent filing his motion for sanctions.

On June 30, 2015, Appellant on behalf of Battersby, filed a motion to withdraw all the pleadings, motions and other documents associated with the present case. The Court granted Battersby's motion on July 8, 2015. On the same date, the Court also granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent Moorhead. Plaintiff submits this withdrawal serves as a voluntary dismissal of the action against Respondent Moorhead.

On July 24, 2015, Respondent Moorhead filed a Motion for Sanctions under Rule 11 SCRPC and the Frivolous Claims Sanctions Proceedings Act on, which the Court granted on February 3, 2016.

Appellant submits the Court committed reversible error in granting Respondent Moorhead's Rule 11 sanctions request when the case has technically been voluntarily dismissed. It is well-settled that "... a voluntary dismissal or non-suit brings about the same situation or result as if no suit had been." Allen v. Atlanta C.A.L. Ry. Co., S.C., 57 S.E.2d 249, 250. And, if there is no suit, then it is as if no Complaint or pleading has ever been signed by Appellant.

Appellant had withdrawn the Complaint before Respondents had moved to sanction him. It may be argued at the time the motion and the order for sanctions were made, there was no

more ‘offensive’ or ‘frivolous’ pleading in existence. Furthermore, Respondents failed to either file a Motion to Reconsider the dismissal pursuant to Rule 52(b), Rule 59 (e) or Rule 60(b). They also failed to appeal the dismissal and the plain meaning found therein.

In this case, the Circuit Court granted Respondent Moorhead’s motion to dismiss on July 10, 2015. Respondent Moorhead filed its motion for sanctions under the FCPSA on July 24, 2015. More than ten days had lapsed since the Circuit Court dismissed the Complaint and the filing of the request for sanctions. Thus, the motion was not timely filed under the FCPSA.

B. THE COURT APPLIED INCORRECT STANDARD IN IMPOSING SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT.

A careful scrutiny of the Order dated July 23, 2015, would show the Circuit Court granted the motion under Rule 11 SCRCF, while being silent on the FCPSA. However, it is undisputed the Circuit Court Judge made a directive that the sanctions shall be granted based only on Rule 11. This is significant because while the ruling was based on Rule 11 SCRCF, the Court applied the FCPSA’s “reasonable attorney” standard.

Under Rule 11 SCRCF, a sanction may be imposed under two conditions: (1) if pleading is frivolous; or (2) if the filing was in bad faith or for improper purpose, whether there is ground to support it. Neither condition appears in this case.

1. The Complaint is not frivolous.

“An attorney takes a frivolous position if he fails to make a reasonable inquiry into the facts (which later proves false) or takes a position unwarranted by existing law or a good faith argument for its modification.” Magnus Elecs., Inc. v. Masco Corp., 871 F.2d 629 (7th Cir. 1989).

Appellant submits the allegations and factual contentions in this case have evidentiary

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