THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2015-CP-02-00667  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000070

---

Ex Parte: Donald L. Smith,.....Appellant,

In Re: Greg Battersby,.....Plaintiff,

v.

J. Kirkman Moorhead, Krause, Moorhead  
& Draisen, P.A., Allstate Insurance Company,  
and Allstate Northbrook Indemnity Company,.....Defendants

of which:

J. Kirkman Moorhead and Krause, Moorhead  
& Draisen, P.A. are,.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Daniel L. Draisen, Esq.  
The Injury Law Firm, P.C.  
2006 North Main Street

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The right to appeal in this matter, if any, is limited to the trial court's most recent Order directing that monetary sanctions be entered as a judgment against Appellant dated December 16, 2019.**

The issue before the Court is not whether the imposition of monetary sanctions pursuant to SCRPC, Rule 11, was proper in this matter. Rather, the only issue before the Court is whether the trial court abused its discretion by ordering that the monetary sanctions, which had not been paid as directed by the court in over three (3) years by Appellant, be entered as a judgment against the Appellant on the Judgment Rolls.

Because monetary sanctions in this matter were awarded against the Appellant attorney, individually, who was not a party to the underlying case, there was confusion in the Clerk of Court's Office as whether and how the Clerk of Court could enter a judgment against an individual that was not a party in the case. The issuance of the December 16, 2019 order (ROA pp. 2-4) by the trial court was administrative in nature and merely directed the Clerk of Court to enter the monetary sanctions as a judgment against the Appellant on the Judgment Rolls. Without such order, Respondents' had a limited ability to make any efforts to collect the sums owed (i.e., only through contempt proceedings).

An abuse of discretion may be found if the conclusions reached by the court are without reasonable factual support. Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 370 S.C. 5, 633 S.E.2d 722 (2006). However, the burden of showing abuse of discretion is on the party challenging the trial court's ruling. Watson v. U.S. Rubber Co., 260 S.C. 129, 194 S.E.2d 395 (1973). "State ex rel. McLeod v. Wilson, 310 S.E.2d 818, 279 S.C. 562 (S.C. App. 1983)

It is not uncommon in South Carolina that criminal defendants are ordered to pay monetary restitution to victims as part of their punishment. It is also not uncommon in South Carolina that,

on occasion, criminal defendants do not pay the restitution ordered by the court. In such circumstances, the courts often order the restitution amounts to be entered as a civil judgment against the defendant. The circumstances here are analogous.

Respondents assert there is no basis in fact or in law to support Appellant's assertions that the trial court abused its discretion in issuing an administrative order to assist the Clerk of Court directing that the (unpaid) monetary sanctions be entered as a judgment against Appellant on the Judgment Rolls. Factually, it is not disputed that the trial court issued an order on February 3, 2016 directing the Appellant to pay monetary sanctions to the Respondents for violations of SCRCF, Rule 11 (ROA pp. 9-15). It is not disputed that the order granting sanctions was *not appealed*. It is not disputed that the Appellant had not, in some three (3) years, paid the Respondents the monetary sanctions as directed by the Court, and that without a judgment Respondents had little ability to pursue collection of the sums owed. As such, Respondents moved the court for an order entering the monetary sanctions as a judgment against the Appellant.(ROA pp. 175-176).

Appellant made no cognizable arguments to this Court that entry of an order by the trial court directing that the monetary sanctions be entered as a civil judgment was an abuse of discretion by the court. In fact, Respondents assert that in the instant case there are sufficient facts in the record, as are more fully set forth herein below, to support the trial court's decision to issue an administrative order directing that the monetary sanctions be entered as judgment on the Judgment Rolls against the Appellant. Appellant should not, by extension of the administrative order, be allowed to challenge the underlying order granting monetary sanctions. This Court's review should be limited to a review of the December 16, 2019 order.

**II. Should the Court determine that the failure of the trial court to enter a formal order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider warrants a remand of the matter (which is denied), the abuse of discretion standard applies to the court's decision to award monetary sanctions against Appellant for Rule 11 violations.**

In Kinghorn v. Sakakini, 426 S.C. 147, 825 S.E.2d 748 (Ct.App. 2019), the Court of Appeals held that the circuit court is not required to state its findings of fact and conclusions of law on motions to dismiss, summary judgment motions, or any other motion except those dealing with involuntary dismissal pursuant to SCRPC, Rule 52(a). While the Form 4 Order issued by the trial court on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider mentions the preparation of a formal order, no formal order was ever issued by the trial court. (ROA p. 6). Therefore, the Form 4 Order was the final order of the court. The trial court's ruling granting Respondents' Motion for Sanctions *was not appealed* by the Appellant.

Assuming, arguendo, that the trial court had issued a formal order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider, and held:

Having reviewed the pleadings in this matter and heard fully the arguments of counsel, I find that the court did not misapprehend the facts or the law applicable to the matter. Therefore, Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration is denied.

Such formal order would not have changed the substance of the court's ruling as contained in the Form 4 Order. At best, if the matter were remanded for this reason and the trial court then issues a formal order, doing so would merely give Appellant yet another opportunity to file an appeal of the underlying Order Awarding Monetary Sanctions against Appellant (a licensed SC attorney).

Under Rule 11,

Every pleading, motion or other paper of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed in his individual name by at least one attorney of record.... The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed for delay....

If a pleading, motion or other paper is not signed or does not comply with this Rule, it shall be stricken unless it is signed promptly after the omission is called to the attention of the pleader or movant. If a pleading, motion, or other paper is signed in violation of this Rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may impose upon the person who signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of the pleading, motion or other paper, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Rule 11(a), SCRPC.

Under Rule 11(a), SCRPC, a party and/or the party's attorney may be sanctioned for filing a frivolous pleading, motion, or other paper, or for making frivolous arguments. Runyon v. Ex parte Gregory, 378 S.C. 430, 663 S.E.2d 46 (2008) citing Wright, 322 S.C. 15, 471 S.E.2d 160 (1996). The party and/or attorney may also be sanctioned for filing a pleading, motion, or other paper in bad faith whether or not there is good ground to support it. *Id.* It is irrefutable that a lawyer owes their client zealous advocacy, but that zeal must be constrained within the bounds placed upon them as an officer of the court and under the court's rules. Specifically, Rule 11, SCRPC, expressly sets forth the outer boundaries of acceptable attorney conduct by requiring that there be good ground to support any pleading filed before the court. Thus, that rule prohibits a lawyer from asserting claims or legal positions that are not supported by fact, well-founded under existing law, or through the modification, extension, or expansion of existing law.

Turning to the merits of the present case, at the outset of the hearing on the summary judgment motion Appellant stipulated that Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on all causes of action except civil conspiracy. (ROA p. 27). The law in this state is that an attorney is generally immune from liability to third person arising from the performance of his professional activities as an attorney on behalf of and with the knowledge of his client *See Pye v. Estate of Fox ex rel. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006). The trial court determined that the Appellant filed the claims in this matter without researching the law on attorney immunity to

determine whether the claims were viable and supported by law. Appellant made no argument to the contrary. The trial court found that no reasonable attorney would have brought the claims against Respondents given the well-established case law on attorney immunity and the facts of the case. (ROA pp. 11-12)

Regarding Appellant's conspiracy cause of action, the trial court found that Appellant's claim was based upon mere suspicion without any supporting evidence. Moreover, after reviewing Appellant's arguments in support of the conspiracy cause of action, the trial court found that counsel merely attempted to "throw it against the wall and see if it sticks." (ROA p. 12) The Appellant made several arguments in an attempt to give some cognizable basis for his conspiracy claim, none of which the trial court found were supported by law or fact. (ROA pp. 9-15))

First, the Appellant argued to the court at the summary judgment hearing that the Respondents stepped out of the scope of the representation of their client when they advised their client to report possible criminal acts to the police and further advised their client to recommend to another alleged victim that she also report her own, similar encounters with the Plaintiff. (ROA p. 12). More troubling the trial court found, is that Appellant also argued that an attorney is not acting in his capacity as an attorney when assisting a client filing a complaint before a state administrative agency. (Id.). Appellant argued that Respondents stepped outside their role as attorneys when they assisted their client with an online complaint against Plaintiff filed with the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation because the client did not need an attorney to file the complaint nor were the Respondents representing the client when they completed the complaint form. (Id.). The trial court found that "there is simply no cognizable basis in law or fact to conclude these acts fall outside the scope of Attorneys' representation of Client." (Id.)

Second, the court rejected the Appellant's argument that Respondents created, embellished or made up better facts to strengthen their client's claims, and therefore conspired with their client because Respondents would share in any judgment obtained as a result of the suit because such an allegation is contrary to well-established law. (ROA pp. 12-13). The court found that Appellant presented no evidence to support his bald assertions that Respondents made up or embellished facts to strengthen their client's case. (ROA p. 13). The court also found, in accordance with case law, that an attorney does not act outside of the scope their representation simply by collecting a fee. (citing Gaar v. Myrtle Beach Realty Co., Inc., 287 S.C 525, 339 S.E.2d 887 (Ct. App. 1986)(holding that an attorney normally conducts the litigation solely in his professional capacity and he has no personal interest in the suit). The court then found that there is no evidence here that Respondents had any personal interest in their representation of their client. (Id.)

Third, Appellant argued that Respondents violated SCACR, Rule 407, Rule 3.3, Candor Toward the Tribunal, of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct and that the rule also imposed a duty on Respondents to the Plaintiff. (Id.).The trial court dismissed Appellant's argument that Rule 3.3 imposed on Respondents a duty to the Plaintiff, finding that the plain language of the rule creates no such duty. (Id.). The court also found that even if a duty was owed, the Respondents breached no such duty. Appellant alleged that Respondents should have recognized their client was lying when she informed them that Plaintiff was wearing a robe during the incident, but then later reported to law enforcement that Plaintiff was wearing a towel. (Id.).The court found that 'these are subtle difference of no material distinction, both figuratively and literally, to put Respondents on notice that Client may be lying." (Id).. Second, the court found that the police report which contained the allegedly different descriptions of Plaintiff's attire was not created until after Respondents advised their client to report to the police. (ROA p. 14).

Therefore, the court found that Respondents "would not have had the benefit of the very report Appellant claims should have put them on notice." The trial court found Appellant's argument was not reasonably supported by the facts, and that Appellant's theory is on its face factually implausible. (Id.).

Based upon the foregoing, the trial court held that sanctions were warranted against Appellant (attorney for the Plaintiff) under Rule 11, SCRPC. (Id.). The court held that a sanction under Rule 11, SCRPC, may include an order to pay the reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred by the party or parties defending against the frivolous action or action brought in bad faith, a reasonable fine to be paid to the court, or a directive of a nonmonetary nature designed to deter the party or the party's attorney from bringing any future frivolous action or action in bad faith. Runyon v. Wright, 322 S.C. 15, 471 S.E.2d 160 (1996). (Id.). Further, if appropriate under the facts of the case, the court may order a party and/or the party's attorney to pay a reasonable monetary penalty to the party or parties defending against the frivolous action or action brought in bad faith. Rule 11(a), SCRPC. (Id.).

The trial court held, given the facts and circumstances of this case, that Appellant should be assessed a monetary sanction calculated based upon the Respondents' Attorneys' fees and costs expended in defending the underlying lawsuit and in bringing the Motion for Sanction. (Id.). The court found that Respondents were forced to notify their malpractice carrier and to retain outside counsel, that Respondents contributed considerably to the defense of the Professional Association (Krause, Moorhead and Draisen, P.A.). (Id.). The court awarded a monetary sanction, including reasonable expenses and attorney's fees, against the Appellant for the sums incurred by Respondents in defending the action of \$11,206.20 which the trial court found reasonable under the totality of the facts and circumstances in this matter. (ROA. Pp. 14-15.)

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the trial court's December 16, 2019 order be affirmed, that the matter be remanded to the trial court, and that the Appellant be sanctioned under SCACR, Rule 269, for filing this frivolous appeal in an effort to delay the entry of a judgment against him for refusing to pay the monetary sanctions as ordered.